FILED
05-10-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

BEATRIZ BANUELOS

Case No. 2020AP001582

Plaintiff-Appellant

VS.

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN HOSPITAL AND CLINICS AUTHORITY

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY Honorable Juan B. Colas Dane County Case No. 2020CV000903

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S RESPONSE BRIEF

HABUSH HABUSH & ROTTIER S.C.®

Jesse B. Blocher State Bar No. 1059460 jblocher@habush.com Peter M. Young State Bar No. 1062054 pyoung@habush.com Corey G. Lorenz State Bar No. 1101145 clorenz@habush.com

P.O. ADDRESS:

Stone Ridge I, Suite 100 N14 W23755 Stone Ridge Drive Waukesha, WI 53188 (262) 523-4700

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Wisconsin Statutes §146.83(3f) restricts fees health care providers may charge for "copies of a patient's health care records" to six enumerated items. In 2011, the legislature repealed the permission to charge fees for "copies in digital or electronic format." Can a provider nonetheless charge unlimited fees for electronic copies that are no longer allowed by the statute?

Answered by the circuit court: Yes.

Answered by the Court of Appeals: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Banuelos favors oral argument, especially to respond to amicus and reply arguments made after this brief is submitted and to respond to questions or concerns of the Court, if any.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents a simple issue of statutory construction to decide whether health care providers, like the University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics Authority ("UWHCA"), are permitted to charge unlimited, exorbitant fees for transmitting *electronic copies* of health care records to patients and other authorized third parties under §146.83(3f).¹

A. Facts, procedural status, and disposition by the lower courts.

The facts are uncomplicated and not in dispute. Banuelos requested electronic copies of her patient health care records from UWHCA. (R.1:6-7, UW.App.38-39). Banuelos' request directed UWHCA to send the electronic copies to her attorneys. (*Id.*). UWHCA, through its vendor CIOX, complied with that request and sent the requested copies to Banuelos' counsel in electronic format. (*Id.*).

¹ Unless stated otherwise, cited sections refer to the Wisconsin Statutes.

Pursuant the federal HITECH (Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health) Act,² UWHCA/CIOX was required to provide the copies electronically. 45 C.F.R. §164.524. While HITECH also restricts fees in certain circumstances, HITECH does not govern the allowable fees where the records are sent directly to the patients' attorney. *See Azar v. CIOX*, 435 F.Supp.3d 30, 58-59, 67 (D.C. Cir. Jan. 20, 2020). Federal law defers to state law in such circumstances. *Id.* ³ In Wisconsin, permissible fees are restricted by §146.83(3f).

After complying with the request for electronic copies, UWHCA charged Banuelos per page fees corresponding to "paper copies." (R.1:6-7, UW.App.38-39). Banuelos filed a complaint alleging that UWHCA violated §146.83(3f) because §146.83(3f) does not allow fees for providing "electronic copies." (R.1, UW.App.35).

The circuit court granted UWHCA's motion to dismiss the complaint, believing that §146.83(3f) was merely "silent" as to fees allowed for electronic copies and UWHCA could charge an unlimited amount. (R.26:4-7, UW.App.30-33).

The Court of Appeals corrected that error, holding that such fees "are unlawful under §146.83(3f)" because "only those fees enumerated in §146.83(3f)" are permitted and "there are no statutorily enumerated fees for electronic copies." *Banuelos v. UWHCA*, 2021 WI App 70, ¶1, 399 Wis.2d 568, 966 N.W.2d 78. This Court then accepted UWHCA's petition for review.

² HITECH was passed in 2009, adding to the well-known HIPAA law. HITECH allows patients and their representatives to obtain electronic copies of medical records under certain conditions but does not replace the more comprehensive HIPAA law. 45 C.F.R. §164.524; see also DHHS Guidance, available at www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/guidance/access/index.html. HITECH does not change the procedure for third party access to medical records under HIPAA.

³ While federal law required UWHCA to provide electronic copies, there is no question of federal law, conflict of laws, or preemption for the Court to decide in this case.

⁴ Banuelos agrees with the Court of Appeals and UWHCA that whether the Complaint states a claim for relief hinges on the legal question of whether charges for electronic copies are allowed by §146.83(3f) and is subject to *de novo* review by this Court.

Filed 05-10-2022

INTRODUCTION/ SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to UWHCA's argument, this Court is not tasked with adjudicating the fairness of requiring providers (and their for-profit vendors like CIOX) to bear the minimal cost of producing electronic copies of medical records. That is the legislature's exclusive province. This Court's duty is to apply the statute as written.

In doing so, this Court must affirm the Court of Appeals' decision because the unambiguous language of §146.83(3f)(b) does not allow a fee for providing electronic copies of "patient health care records." Under §146.83(3f)(b), a provider "may charge no more than the total of" the applicable items listed, and electronic copies are not among them. §146.83(3f)(b). The statute only allows fees for "paper copies," not electronic copies. §146.83(3f)(b)1. The Court of Appeals properly applied §146.83(3f)(b)'s plain language.

Curiously, UWHCA's claim that the text of §146.83(3f) allows *unlimited* fees for electronic copies of "patient health care records" is made without discussion of its actual language – violating the cardinal rule of statutory interpretation. UWHCA never attempts to square its desired construction with the text of the statute. UWHCA's arguments not only conflict with §146.83(3f), but also with the statutory definition of "patient health care records" which includes "all records related to the health of a patient...," not just paper records. §146.81(4). Contrary to this unambiguous language, UWHCA claims that §146.83 excludes electronic medical records from its scope, relying on an unrelated section, §146.836, to support this incorrect proposition. Section 146.836 states the opposite – that "patient health care records" include "digital information."

Legislative history further confirms that §146.83 applies to electronic records, and no fee is currently permitted for providing electronic copies.⁵ A charge for "copies in digital or electronic format" was formerly permitted, but the

9

Case 2020AP001582

⁵ Except possibly for postage and tax if physical media is used. §146.83(3f)(b)6.

legislature *repealed* that permission in 2011. *Compare* §146.83(1f)(2009); §146.83(3f)(b)(2011). The legislature did so without changing the cost restriction or redefining any relevant term. This history verifies that charges for "copies in digital or electronic format" are now prohibited.

UWHCA proposes an extreme interpretation of §146.83, *claiming the* statute does not govern electronic records at all. Not only would adopting UWHCA's construction require the Court to rewrite §§ 146.81(4)'s and 146.83(3f)'s language and history, but it would also have wide-ranging, absurd consequences almost entirely nullifying any right of access to medical records:

- Patients, other health care providers, and authorized third parties would *no longer have any right to access, inspect, or copy electronic medical records* under Wisconsin law, which now constitute virtually all medical records. §146.83(1c), (3f).
- Providers could charge *unlimited fees* for supplying copies of medical records created electronically (again – virtually all records), whether the provider sends the copies in paper or electronic format.
- Insurance companies that need access to medical records to evaluate and defend against claims and that request medical records using HIPAA authorizations would no longer have a *right* to obtain any electronic medical record under either federal or state law. This would throw the status of virtually all personal injury, workers compensation, life, and disability claims into disarray for applicants, claimants, and insurers.

Such a construction would render any right to inspect or obtain medical records under §146.83(1b)-(3f) almost entirely meaningless.

10

_

⁶ HIPAA *permits but does not require* health care providers to disclose patient health care records to third-parties possessing HIPAA-compliant authorizations. 45 C.F.R. §§164.502(a)(1), 164.502(a)(2), 164.508.

UWHCA's submission is filled with unsupported policy arguments and fearmongering related to the cost of transmitting electronic copies and alleged increases in health care costs. The reality is that supplying electronic copies requires a few mouse clicks at little or no cost to the provider. For-profit vendors like CIOX reap billions of dollars in windfall profits from over-charging patients and third parties for electronic copies of medical records, while ensuring that providers have no costs and are indemnified from any losses. Azar, 435 F.Supp.3d at 49-51. Bipartisan administrations in Wisconsin since 1979 have agreed providing copies of medical records, where there is no consumer choice or free market, should not be a profit-generating industry. Claims of significant technological costs are disingenuous as the federal government paid billions of dollars to medical providers to subsidize their electronic medical records systems. The American Medical Association recommends that copies of electronic records should be provided at little or no cost - a recommendation that bipartisan federal administrations (most recently, the Trump administration) and many states have adopted in various circumstances.

While the policy disagreements over this issue may make for interesting discussion, the Court cannot adjudicate them here. The Court has no record to evaluate these complaints of unfairness. Nor does the Court have authority to decide which entities should "bear the cost." That is the legislature's prerogative. This Court must apply the law as written and affirm the Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 146.83(3f) DOES NOT PERMIT FEES FOR ELECTRONIC COPIES OF PATIENT HEALTH CARE RECORDS.

The unambiguous language of §146.83(3f) does not allow fees for providing *electronic copies* of "patient health care records," because a health care

-

⁷ Because of the indemnification agreement, CIOX, rather than UWHCA, is likely controlling this litigation.

provider "may charge no more than the total of" the applicable items listed, and electronic copies are not among them. §146.83(3f)(b). Fees are allowed only for the listed items:

- (a) . . . if a person requests copies of a patient's health care records, provides informed consent, and pays the applicable fees under par. (b), the health care provider shall provide the person making the request copies of the requested records.
- (b) . . . a health care provider may charge no more than the total of all of the following that apply for providing the copies requested under par. (a):
- 1. For *paper copies*: \$1 per page for the first 25 pages; 75 cents per page for pages 26 to 50; 50 cents per page for pages 51 to 100; and 30 cents per page for pages 101 and above.
- 2. For microfiche or microfilm copies, \$1.50 per page.
- 3. For a print of an X-ray, \$10 per image.
- 4. If the requester is not the patient or a person authorized by the patient, for certification of copies, a single \$8 charge.
- 5. If the requester is not the patient or a person authorized by the patient, a single retrieval fee of \$20 for all copies requested.
- 6. Actual shipping costs and any applicable taxes.

(emphasis added). The statute only allows fees for "paper copies," not electronic copies. §146.83(3f)(b)1.

The structure of §146.83(3f) is plain, unambiguous, and easy to follow. As the Court of Appeals correctly stated, subsection (a) contains "three requirements—making the request for copies, providing the informed consent, and paying 'the applicable fees under par. (b)." *Banuelos*, 2021 WI App 70, ¶13. Subsection (b) limits what a provider may charge to "six enumerated fees." *Id.*, ¶15. "This language also makes clear that para. (b) *defines the total universe of fees that a provider may collect from a requester.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). "If a charged fee is not one of the enumerated fees and applicable to the particular request, it is not permitted." *Id.* ¶¶15, 17 (emphasis added). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held "the fees that UWHCA charged Banuelos are unlawful" because "there are no statutorily enumerated fees for electronic copies." *Id.*, ¶1. The Court of Appeals' decision was not based on "its own perception of generalized legislative intent" as UWHCA argues. It was based on a thorough, plain-language analysis of §146.83(3f).

UWHCA has never made a cogent argument that §146.83(3f)(b) can be read differently:

[UWHCA]'s reliance on the statute's silence on this topic is not accompanied by a discussion of the text of the statute. This does not constitute a viable argument in opposition to a plain language analysis of the meaning of the statute. In sum, [UWHCA] does not offer any developed plain language interpretation of the statute.

Banuelos, 2021 WI App 70, ¶33.

When the statute is plain and unambiguous, as it is here, the Court's "inquiry stops there." *Moya v. Aurora Health Care*, 2017 WI 45, ¶¶17-19, 375 Wis.2d 38, 894 N.W.2d 405. "...[T]he court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute." *Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶46, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

The circuit court's error, which the Court of Appeals corrected, was overlooking the critical language of §146.83(3f)(b) that providers "may charge no more than the total of" the listed items. The circuit court incorrectly believed that the statute was "silent" as to items not listed and providers are permitted to charge for those. (R.26:4-7; UW.App.30-33). While UWHCA touts the circuit court's decision, it abandons the circuit's court's reasoning, which does not align with §146.83(3f)'s language.

The circuit court's reasoning would have nullified the statute. The circuit court's decision permits fees that are included in §146.83(3f)(b)'s list *and fees that are not included*. This Court recognized in *Townsend v. ChartSwap, LLC*, 2021 WI 86, ¶¶1-2, 399 Wis. 2d 599, 967 N.W.2d 21, that §146.83(3f) creates fee "restrictions" for providers. If the circuit court's reasoning controlled - there would be no "restrictions." All fees would be allowed. For example, a provider could charge a "basic fee" or "labor fee" in any amount, because those are not within the statute's enumerated items. Even if the fee for a particular item is limited by §146.83(3f)(b), the provider could simply *rename* it something else to avoid any restriction. For example, a "certification fee," could be renamed a "legal

Case 2020AP001582

Filed 05-10-2022

compliance fee" and be unrestricted. The Court of Appeals corrected this basic error.

The circuit court's decision was also contrary to this Court's precedent. In Moya, this Court agreed that fees not specifically itemized in §146.83(3f) are disallowed by the statute's plain language. 2017 WI 45, ¶31. This Court confirmed that "[a]ccess to patient health care records is governed by Wis. Stat. § 146.83," and the statute allows health care providers to "impose *certain costs* on the person requesting health care records...." *Id.* ¶¶4-5 (emphasis added). More specifically, this Court held that providers are not permitted to charge certification and retrieval fees to a person authorized by the patient. Id. ¶25. Since those fees were not included in §146.83(3f)'s permissible list, they were disallowed. Id. Had the circuit court's reasoning prevailed, the charges in Moya would have been allowed because §146.83(3f)(b)4-5 does not specifically address them.

This Court applied the same analysis to the similar public records fee restriction. See Milwaukee J. Sentinel v. City of Milwaukee, 2012 WI 65, ¶¶35-36, 341 Wis. 2d 607, 815 N.W.2d 367 (where the statute authorized fees for four specific tasks, the list demonstrated "that the legislature considered the imposition of fees and knew how to authorize particular types of fees" and statutory text did not "allow the imposition of a broad array of fees"; "the legislature knew how to draft that language and could have done so had it wished."); Id., ¶83 (Roggensack, J., concurring and noting that addressing concerns about costs not enumerated by statute "is a legislative function, not a function properly undertaken by the courts."). The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's decisions in Moya and Journal Sentinel. Banuelos, 2021 WI App 70, ¶¶27-28.

Instead of relying on the circuit court's reasoning, UWHCA wrongly argues that "patient health care records" do not include electronic records, and "copies" do not include electronic copies. Section 146.83(3f)'s text and history

⁸ Section 146.83(3f)'s other two requirements that UWHCA is a "health care provider" and that Banuelos provided "informed consent," have never been in dispute.

are inapposite. Neither the circuit court nor the Court of Appeals adopted UWHCA's misconstruction of the statute.

A. "Patient health care records" includes electronic records, and "copies" includes electronic copies.

As used in §146.83, "patient health care records" broadly includes "all records related to the health of a patient prepared by or under the supervision of a health care provider;..." §146.81(4) (definitions apply to §§146.81-146.84) (emphasis added). "All records," by its plain and inclusive language, includes electronic records. The word "all" chosen by the legislature must be given full effect. DeHart v. Wisconsin Mut. Ins. Co., 2007 WI 91, ¶61, 302 Wis.2d 564, 734 N.W.2d 394 (the Court must give "full effect and meaning to all of the words of the statute"). "In the absence of statutory definitions, this court construes all words according to their common and approved usage, which may be established by dictionary definitions." Swatek v. County of Dane, 192 Wis.2d 47, 61, 531 N.W.2d 45 (1995). According to Miriam-Webster's dictionary, "all" is defined as: "the whole amount, quantity, or extent of; as much as possible; every member or individual component of." If electronic records were excluded from the definition of "patient health care records," it is axiomatic that the definition would no longer include "all records" – especially since almost all records are electronic.

UWHCA asks the Court to rewrite the definition of "patient health care records" and hold that "all records" really means "only those few remaining paper records." However, "[a] court is not empowered to rewrite... statutes under the guise of construing them." *Sinclair v. Dep't of Health & Soc. Servs., Div. of Fam. Servs.*, 77 Wis.2d 322, 332, 253 N.W.2d 245 (1977). Likewise, the Court cannot apply differing definitions of "patient health care records" in different sections as UWHCA argues. Section 146.81's definitions apply to "ss. 146.81 to 146.84." The

⁹ Available at www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/all.

legislature mandated that "patient health care records" have the same definition throughout.

UWHCA argues without support that "all records" is not meant to encompass the "format" of the records. That argument is contrary to the statutory definition, which does not limit the "record" by format. §146.81(4). The only criteria are whether the record "is related to the health of the patient" and "prepared by or under the supervision of a health care provider." *Id.*; *see also Wall v. Pahl*, 2016 WI App 71, ¶28, 371 Wis.2d 716, 886 N.W.2d 373. Electronic medical records meet these two criteria. Common sense dictates that an electronic record is still a "record," and "all" means all. The legislature's chosen language is broad and unambiguous.

Further, as will be discussed in greater detail below, §146.836 confirms that "patient health care records" "includ[es]. . . *electromagnetic or digital information*... recorded or preserved, regardless of physical form or characteristics." (emphasis added).

Likewise, the term "copies" is undefined, and not limited to "paper copies" in §146.83(3f)(b). The plain meaning of the word "copy" is not limited to a particular format. A "copy" is a "an imitation, transcript, or reproduction of an original work." Section 146.83(3f) distinguishes between "copies" and "paper copies:"

- (a) . . . if a person requests *copies* of a patient's health care records,... the health care provider shall provide the person making the request *copies* of the requested records.
- (b) . . . a health care provider may charge no more than the total of all of the following that apply for providing the *copies* requested under par. (a):

 1. For *paper copies*: . . .

§146.83(3f)(b) (emphasis added). The chosen language shows that the legislature understood that "copies" were not limited to "paper copies." If the legislature intended for "copies" to mean the same thing as "paper copies," it would not have

¹⁰ Available at www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/copies?msclkid=23c36c3ac58411ec973f06316ab0c597.

used different terms in subsections (a)/(b) and (b)1. See Milwaukee Dist. Council 48 v. Milwaukee Cty., 2019 WI 24, ¶29, 385 Wis.2d 748, 924 N.W.2d 153 ("When the legislature uses different terms in a statute—particularly in the same section—we presume it intended the terms to have distinct meanings.") (internal citation omitted); Armes v. Kenosha Cty., 81 Wis.2d 309, 318, 260 N.W.2d 515 (1977) ("Where the legislature uses two different phrases,... in two paragraphs in the same section, it is presumed to have intended the two phrases to have different meanings."). The legislature intended "paper copies" to be a subset of "copies." Section 146.83(3f) broadly governs "copies," but only allows fees for "paper copies."

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