FILED 04-20-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

BEATRIZ BANUELOS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Appeal No. 2020-AP-1582

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN HOSPITALS AND CLINICS AUTHORITY,

> Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

APPEAL OF A PUBLISHED DECISION BY COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, CASE NO. 20-CV-903, THE HONORABLE JUAN B. COLÁS PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN HOSPITALS AND CLINICS AUTHORITY

Daniel A. Manna, SBN 1071827 GASS TUREK LLC 241 North Broadway, Suite 300 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-223-3300

Jay P. Lefkowitz, P.C. (pro hac vice)

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

ARGUMENT

The court of appeals' interpretation of § 146.83(3f) is reconcilable neither with the text nor the statutory history. The 2011 amendment's elimination of the mandate to provide electronic copies of medical records at the same time as the corresponding fee provision was deleted, together with the negative implication from the applicability section - § 146.836 – compels the conclusion that the statute leaves fee regulation for electronic copies to federal law. But the court of appeals concluded to the contrary that the statute creates an unspoken state law requirement to produce electronic copies without charge, reversing a decade-long understanding that the law deferred to the federal law applicable to delivery of electronic copies of medical records. The court of appeals' conclusion was incorrect.

I. The Text and Legislative History of Wisconsin's Medical Records Fee Statute Demonstrate That It Does Not Apply to Electronic Records.

"[S]tatutory interpretation focus[es] primarily on the language of the statute." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 ("Judicial deference to the policy choices enacted into law by the legislature requires that statutory interpretation focus primarily on the language of the statute. We assume that the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language."). In construing a statutory provision, "[s]tatutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning" and is "interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.* ¶¶ 45-46. "If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is

applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." *Id.* ¶ 46 (quoting *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, ¶ 20, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656). And this Court has held – in interpreting this very statute – that a court may consider a statute's "past iterations" to understand its plain meaning, *Moya v. Aurora Healthcare*, Inc., 2017 WI 45, ¶ 28, 375 Wis. 2d 38, 894 N.W.2d 405, and even when a statute is unambiguous, courts "may consult extrinsic sources to confirm [their] understanding of the plain language of a statute." *Id.* ¶ 18.

A. The Text of Wisconsin's Medical Records Fee Statute Demonstrates That It Does Not Apply to Electronic Records.

The court of appeals opined that "UW Health does not offer any developed plain language interpretation of the statute." *Banuelos,* 2021 WI App 70, ¶ 33; App. 16. But the court of appeals misconstrued UW Health's arguments below, missing UW Health's clear plain language argument that the Wisconsin medical statutes, on their face, do not include electronic copies in the definition of "patient health care records" to which the statute's fee limits apply.

The court of appeals reasoned that the fee provision in § 146.83(3f)(b) – which the court reiterated makes "no reference . . . to electronic copies" – sets out the exclusive charges for medical record "copies . . . requested under par[agraph] (a)" of the statute. *Banuelos,* 2021 WI App 70, ¶¶ 14-15; App. 7-8 ("[P]ara[graph] (b) defines the total universe of fees that a provider may collect from a requester for the service of fulfilling a request for patient health care records under para[graph] (a)."). So whether the fee provision in paragraph (b) even applies depends on whether the records request qualifies as a request "under" paragraph (a). Paragraph (a), for its part, is triggered upon a request for "copies of a patient's health care records." But like in paragraph (b), nothing in § 146.83(3f)(a) indicates that "a patient's health care records" includes electronic records.

This is no mere omission. As explained further below, see infra Argument Section II, just two statutory sections after § 146.83(3f), under the heading "Applicability," the legislature expressly singled out those select few provisions in which the term "patient health care records" would include records stored in the form of "digital information," and § 146.83(3f) is not among them. Wis. Stat. § 146.836. This exclusion is all the more notable because two of the provisions to which this more expansive definition of "patient health care records" applies – §§ 146.82 and 146.83(4) – immediately bookend § 146.83(3f), indicating that the legislature intentionally carved out the fee limits in subsection (3f) from application to electronic records. As a result, requests "under" § 146.83(3f)(a) are limited to requests for non-electronic medical records. And, as highlighted by its omission of any fees applicable to electronic copies, the fee limits in paragraph (b) accordingly apply only to such non-electronic record requests that could fall under paragraph (a). By contrast, when a person requests *electronic* copies of medical records, Wisconsin law neither mandates their delivery (as would be required if electronic records could fall within paragraph (a))⁴ nor limits the fees that may be charged when electronic records are delivered.

⁴ This makes sense because, as noted, the very purpose of the 2011 statutory revision was to repeal the electronic delivery mandate, and it would defy reason and elementary norms of statutory interpretation to conclude that, notwithstanding the existence or nonexistence of the mandate, § 146.83(3f)(a) obligates the delivery of health records in electronic form.

Page 30 of 51

In rejecting this plain-text reading of § 146.83(3f), the court of appeals relied on the definition in § 146.81(4) that "'[p]atient health care records' means all records related to the health of a patient prepared by or under the supervision of a health care provider," determining that "all records" must include electronic records. Banuelos, 2021 WI App 70, ¶ 39; App. 21-22. But this surface-level analysis fails to consider the plain context of this definition – which addresses the substance of the records (i.e., that they must "relate to the health of the patient" and be "prepared by or under the supervision of the health care provider"), not their format (*i.e.*, paper or electronic) – and, as explained further below, see infra Argument Section II, cannot be squared with the terms of § 146.836. If, as the court of appeals appears to hold, every provision of Wisconsin's medical records laws – even provisions like § 146.83(3f) that expressly enumerate mediums like "paper," "microfilm," "microfiche," and "print[s] of an X-ray," but omit references to electronic records – *already* cover medical records in electronic format, then § 146.836 would "have no consequence," which longstanding principles of statutory interpretation counsel against. *Matter of D.K.*, 2020 WI 8, ¶ 40, 390 Wis. 2d 50, 937 N.W.2d 901.

Rather, the plain language of § 146.83(3f) – which does not mention electronic records and which is notably omitted from the scope of the electronic records applicability provision in § 146.836 – indicates that "patient health care records" does not include electronic records, so the provision's fee limits likewise do not apply to electronic records. And, as explained below, this conclusion is cemented by the applicable legislative history.

B. The Legislative History of Wisconsin's Medical Records Fee Statute Demonstrates That It Does Not Apply to Electronic Records.

The plain language and legislative history of the Wisconsin medical records statute, in particular, § 146.83(3f), show that § 146.83(3f) was not intended to – and still does not – cover electronic records. The court of appeals reached the contrary conclusion largely because it erred in its review of the legislative history. The court of appeals considered the legislative history to support its view that § 146.83(3f) was "an enumeration of all permitted fees that health care providers may charge for the service of providing copies of patient health care records" (including for electronic records) because "[i]f not, there would have been no reason in the previous version of the statute for the legislature separately to provide that health care providers may impose an unspecified and unlimited 'charge' for providing copies in digital or electronic format." Banuelos, 2021 WI App 70, ¶ 24; App. 14. The court reasoned that "[s]uch an interpretation would render that part of the previous version of the statute superfluous and meaningless, a result that we avoid." *Id.* (citing *Belding v. Demoulin*, 2014 WI 8, ¶ 17, 352 Wis. 2d 359, 843 N.W.2d 373 ("Statutory interpretations that render provisions meaningless should be avoided."); State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 35, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611 ("Statutes are interpreted to give effect to each word [and] to avoid surplusage. . . . ")). But the court of appeals' reasoning is demonstrably flawed, for three reasons. *First*, it flips on its head the legislature's documented intent to repeal in 2011 the mandate to provide electronic copies, instead finding that by repealing that mandate, the legislature simultaneously created an even broader one, requiring not only that Wisconsin health care providers deliver electronic medical records on demand but that they do so for free. *Second*, the court of

Page 32 of 51

appeals' inference of legislative intent to preclude charges for electronic records depended on a fundamental mistake of fact regarding the terms of the statute that the legislature was trying to pass in 2009. *Third*, the court of appeals improperly conjured an inference of a generalized legislative intent to make copies of medical health records more available to support its interpretation of § 146.83(3f). As this Court recently cautioned, however, courts should not rely on their own "perception of [a generalized] legislative intent when construing a statute." *Townsend v. ChartSwap, LLC*, 2021 WI 86, ¶ 24, 399 Wis. 2d 599, 967 N.W.2d 21.

1. The Legislature Intended to Exit the Business of Regulating Electronic Copies of Medical Records, and the Court of Appeals' Decision Flips the 2011 Repeal on Its Head.

Banuelos does not contest that the purpose of the 2011 amendment to the medical records statute was to repeal both the 2009 state-law requirement to provide electronic copies and the partially vetoed provision allowing for an unspecified "charge" for such records. In recognition that Wisconsin law is not what governs the delivery of electronic medical records, Banuelos's own request did not cite Wis. Stat. § 146.83 *at all*, but instead cited federal law. R. 1-14; App. 46. In her complaint, Banuelos explicitly states that since 2009, it is the HITECH Act – not Wisconsin law – that has required medical providers to provide electronic copies of medical records to patients and their designees. R. 1-4 to 5; App. 36-37. And Banuelos pleaded that "HITECH pre-empts conflicting and less stringent state laws, which *do not require* . . . *that patient requests for electronic medical records be provided to the patient in electronic format.*" R. 1-5; App. 37 (emphasis added).

Page 33 of 51

The key question for this Court is what the legislature intended to do by repealing the previous mandate to provide electronic copies and the corresponding fee provision, and enacting in its place the current provision in § 146.83(3f), which is silent as to fees for electronic copies. Did the legislature intend to exit the business of regulating electronic copies, again leaving the field to federal law as had been the legislature's approach prior to 2009? Or did the legislature intend to create a state-law requirement that – in conjunction with the prevailing federal rule obligating the delivery of electronic copies upon request – mandates the production of such electronic copies for free?

The court of appeals chose the latter, thereby interpreting a statute whose stated purpose was to repeal a mandate – and whose consequence was to revert the legal regime to its pre-regulatory status of deferring to federal law (which by then reflected the strictures of the newly enacted HITECH Act) – as having simultaneously created an even broader one. Under the court of appeals' ruling, not only must Wisconsin health care providers provide electronic medical records on demand but they now must do so for free. Since "[w]e are to avoid interpretations that render parts of statutes meaningless," that reading is directly contrary to the established principles of statutory interpretation. Norda, Inc. v. Wisconsin Educ. Approval *Bd.*, 2006 WI App 125, ¶ 12, 294 Wis. 2d 686, 718 N.W.2d 236. Further, if the legislature had intended to make electronic medical records available for free, it would have said so more clearly. See, e.g., Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass'ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468 ("Congress, we have held, does not alter the fundamental details of a regulatory scheme in vague terms or ancillary provisions – it does not, one might say, hide elephants in mouseholes.").

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Was the Result of an Erroneous Inference Sprung from a Fundamental Mistake of Fact.

The court of appeals held that the legislative history:

[S]hows that the legislature permitted fees of any amount for electronic copies of patient health care records in 2009 for the purpose of encouraging the adoption of electronic health care records, but that the legislature deleted that permission in 2011, after the federal HITECH Act separately encouraged the adoption of electronic health care records.

Banuelos, 2021 WI App 70, ¶ 41; App. 23; see also 42 U.S.C. § 17935(e)(1); 45 C.F.R. § 164.524(c)(2)(ii). But the court of appeals' conclusion is contradicted by its own reasoning earlier in that same paragraph. There, the court of appeals made clear that in 2009, rather than permitting fees "of any amount," what the legislature actually sought to accomplish was to impose a \$5 cap on the amount health care providers could charge for electronic copies of medical records. It was only due to Governor Doyle's line-item veto that the enacted statute authorized an uncapped "charge."⁵ So while the legislature clearly believed that *some* charge for electronic records was appropriate, it is equally evident that it did *not* intend in 2009 to enact a

⁵ The court of appeals' conclusion inverts the legislative history. As Governor Doyle's veto message made clear, he was concerned that the legislature's \$5 cap on fees would be "a deterrent to providers adopting electronic health records." Veto Message, § D.11, at 37 (June 29, 2009); App.130. Because he was concerned that the Legislature's fee cap would deter that development, Governor Doyle excised the fee-cap language for the purpose of hastening that development. The court of appeals, however, attributed to the 2009 legislature that sought to impose such fee limits – with the potential deterrent effect the fee caps carried – the simultaneous intent to "encourag[e] the adoption of electronic health care records," via *unlimited* fees. *Banuelos*, 2021 WI App 70, ¶ 41; App. 23. This defies logic. The legislature can either intend to cap or to uncap fees, not both; and it can intend to realize the consequences of capped or uncapped fees, not both.

Page 35 of 51

provision that permitted "any amount" to be charged for electronic copies. Nor, given that the legislature did not at that time intend to bless *uncapped* fees, is there any basis to infer that the legislature intended to use that unintended uncapped fee provision as an incentive to hasten providers' adoption of electronic records. Because "[s]tatutes are interpreted to give effect to each word, [and] to avoid surplusage," *State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 35, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611, it follows that, absent the fee cap the legislature sought to impose in 2009, the statute did not govern the amount that could be charged for electronic copies.

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